STATE OF MICHIGAN  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

KAITLIN HAHN,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

v

GEICO INDEMNITY COMPANY,

Defendant-Appellant,

and

AUTOMOBILE CLUB INSURANCE  
ASSOCIATION,

Defendant.

---

Supreme Court No. \_\_\_\_\_

Court of Appeals No. 336583

Oakland County Circuit Court  
No. 16-152229-NI

**APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL  
OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT, GEICO INDEMNITY COMPANY**

**PROOF OF SERVICE**

**GARAN LUCOW MILLER, P.C.**  
DANIEL S. SAYLOR (P37942)  
SARAH NADEAU (P60101)  
Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant,  
**GEICO Indemnity Company**  
1155 Brewery Park Blvd, Ste. 200  
Detroit, Michigan 48207-2461  
(313) 446-5520  
dsaylor@garanlucow.com

**

**STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

1. Should the Court overrule *Farm Bureau Ins Co v Allstate Ins Co*, 233 Mich App 38 (1998), and its §3012-based insurance coverage rule, under which non-Michigan auto insurance policies are deemed to provide Michigan no-fault coverage when the insurer knows—or has reason to know—that its policy purchaser resides in Michigan, where the rule is conclusively unsupported by the text of the statute and effectively imposes a duty on agents of non-Michigan insurers that conflicts with well-established Michigan law?

Defendant-Appellant GEICO answers, “Yes.”

Plaintiff-Appellee Hahn would answer, “No.”

2. Even if the insurance coverage rule of *Farm Bureau v Allstate* is valid, did the lower courts nevertheless reversibly err in finding any potential liability on the part of GEICO where the facts identified in *Farm Bureau* and found to support liability in *Gordon* are materially distinguishable from those in the case at bar?

Defendant-Appellant GEICO answers, “Yes.”

Plaintiff-Appellee Hahn would answer, “No.”



**JUDGMENT BEING APPEALED, ALLEGATIONS OF ERROR  
AND RELIEF SOUGHT**

This application challenges the insurance coverage rule formulated by the Court of Appeals in *Farm Bureau Ins Co v Allstate Ins Co*, 233 Mich App 38; 592 NW2d 395 (1998) – held by the Court of Appeals in *this* case to be binding precedent – under which a non-Michigan auto insurance policy is transformed to extend coverage for unlimited personal protection insurance benefits as if it were a Michigan no-fault insurance policy. The North Carolina policy purchased by GEICO’s insured, fully in accord with North Carolina law, was for a vehicle the insured properly registered, garaged, and operated in North Carolina. Yet as applied here, the *Farm Bureau* rule would require Defendant-Appellant, GEICO Indemnity Company to provide *Michigan’s* life-long PIP benefits to quadriplegic accident victim, Plaintiff-Appellee, Kaitlin Hahn.

The appealed judgment is the Court of Appeals opinion of June 12, 2018 (**Exhibit 1**) – *Hahn v GEICO Indemnity Co*, unpublished per curiam opinion of the Court of Appeals, No. 336583, June 12, 2018), which affirmed, in material part, the Wayne County Circuit Court’s denial of GEICO’s motion for summary disposition (**Exhibit 2** – Opinion & Order Regarding Respective Motions for Summary Disposition, January 10, 2017). In these rulings, the lower courts relied on *Farm Bureau Ins Co v Allstate Ins Co* to hold that Plaintiff Hahn possesses a viable claim against Defendant GEICO for Michigan PIP benefits based on MCL 500.3012. This brief will show, as indeed the text of the statute itself makes manifest, that §3012 provides no basis whatsoever for the policy reformation theory established by the Court of Appeals in *Farm Bureau*.

This application will be regarded as an interlocutory appeal. It is one the Court should accept. Under the Court of Appeals' ruling, this case will return to the trial court for proceedings on Plaintiff's claim that Defendant knew ("or should have known") that the purchaser of its North Carolina auto policy was, despite residing in North Carolina for a period of years in military service, a resident of the State of Michigan. If so, under the §3012-based coverage rule articulated by the court in *Farm Bureau*, Defendant will be adjudged liable to Plaintiff for payment of Michigan no-fault insurance benefits:

... We agree with the trial court's determination. *Farm Bureau Ins Co* indicates that if an insurer knows, or has reason to know, that the individual seeking insurance is a Michigan resident, but the insurer nevertheless issues a policy that does not provide Michigan no-fault coverage, MCL 500.3012 may be invoked to reform the policy to one providing Michigan no-fault coverage. See *Farm Bureau Ins Co*, 233 Mich App at 41 (finding no basis to invoke the statute under the factual circumstances of that case because "there is no evidence from which one may reasonably determine that Allstate should have known that [its insured] was a Michigan resident.").

\* \* \*

... Under the circumstances, we agree with the trial court that genuine issues of material fact existed with regard to whether Geico knew, or should have known, that Waller was a Michigan resident who required a Michigan no-fault policy. Under *Farm Bureau Ins Co*, this is enough to trigger potential applicability of MCL 500.3012.

(**Exhibit 1**, Court of Appeals opinion, slip op at 5).

This action now is proceeding solely on the premise that the *Farm Bureau* reformation rule is valid; yet, as the following discussion will demonstrate, the rule is wholly *unsupported* by the statute on which it is purportedly based and is otherwise contrary to Michigan law. The issue is purely one of law, and its resolution either will render any remand to the trial court unnecessary or, if not addressed until after entry of a final judgment below, will render the

discovery and trial proceedings on remand a waste of the parties' and lower courts' time and resources. The interests of justice will be advanced, therefore, by this Court granting review at this time.

Furthermore, this appeal meets the Court's criteria for granting leave to appeal, MCR 7.305(B)(3) and MCR 7.305(B)(5)(a), as the issue presented involves a legal principle of major significance to the state's jurisprudence, and the challenged decision is clearly erroneous and will cause material injustice. Defendant-Appellant GEICO is just one of many Michigan insurers that issue auto policies in several states other than Michigan. The holding in *Farm Bureau*, on which the decision below is predicated, impacts and causes harm to all such insurers due to the potential for their out-of-state policies (such as the North Carolina GEICO policy at issue here) to be treated as Michigan no-fault policies without the carrier having collected a premium based on the unlimited lifetime benefits required by Michigan law. It is critical that the parameters of an insurer's responsibility be clearly defined, in accord with the plain meaning of governing statutes, in order for insurers to properly allocate risks and maintain premiums that are fair to insurers and consumers alike. The *Farm Bureau* rule thus needs to be addressed and disavowed, GEICO submits, to remedy the uncertainty and unduly expanded liability the rule creates. It is a question of first impression for this Court.

Defendant-Appellant GEICO thus respectfully urges the Court to examine the issues raised in this application. Either on plenary review or in lieu of granting leave to appeal, the Court is requested to reverse the holdings of the lower courts insofar as they permit Plaintiff's claim based on *Farm Bureau* and §3012 to proceed, and direct that summary disposition be granted in favor of GEICO.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEEDINGS

### Introduction

In the early morning hours of July 18, 2015, Plaintiff-Appellee, Kaitlin Hahn, and her husband, Zachary Waller, were involved in a single-vehicle accident in Monroe County, Michigan, which left Hahn seriously and permanently injured as a quadriplegic (**Exhibit 4** – Traffic Crash Report). The two had been driving all night from their newly purchased townhouse in Sneads Ferry, North Carolina, to celebrate their recent marriage with friends and family while visiting Michigan during Waller’s two-week leave from military service at Camp Lejeune, North Carolina (**Exhibit 11** – deposition of Z. Waller, pp. 20, 38).

This action concerns insurance coverage for Hahn’s injuries. Waller, who had been stationed in North Carolina for more than two years since his enlistment in January 2013, was the named insured on a North Carolina auto insurance policy issued by Defendant-Appellant, GEICO Indemnity Company. Waller had purchased the policy for a 2002 GMC Sierra 2500 pickup truck he had bought and registered in North Carolina (**Exhibit 11**, pp. 11-12, 37). This was the vehicle he and Hahn were occupying at the time of their accident.

By its terms, the GEICO policy provided only those coverages mandated under North Carolina law (**Exhibit 5**). Because GEICO also transacts insurance business in Michigan, however, it maintains certification in Michigan under MCL 500.3163. Where applicable, this certification extends the North Carolina policy’s coverage to provide for payment of Michigan personal protection insurance (“PIP”) benefits in accordance with the provisions of §3163 if its non-Michigan insured is involved in a Michigan accident.

Thus, on the basis that Waller, a resident of North Carolina, was involved in a Michigan accident and that Hahn, his wife, also qualified as an insured under Waller's policy, GEICO acknowledged coverage in accord with MCL 500.3163 and paid benefits for Hahn's injuries up to the \$500,000 maximum set forth in MCL 500.3163(4) (**Exhibit 9** – GEICO letter to Plaintiff's counsel, February 22, 2016, acknowledging coverage).

In this lawsuit Plaintiff is seeking *unlimited* PIP benefits under the Michigan no-fault act. As detailed below, Plaintiff's theory was that either Defendant Auto Club Insurance Association owed her full no-fault benefits under a Michigan auto policy issued to her father, or that a "mend-the-hold" estoppel theory would apply to prevent GEICO from limiting its liability to the \$500,000 maximum stated in §3163(4).

On motions for summary disposition, the trial court determined as a matter of law that Hahn and Waller were domiciled in Michigan and thus were *not* out-of-state residents of Michigan (**Exhibit 2** – Opinion & Order, pp. 11, 34). Based on this determination, it appeared that GEICO would have no liability for payment of *any* no-fault benefits under its §3163 certification, let alone for benefits beyond the \$500,000 it already had paid, since liability under §3163 only applies where the accident involves an *out-of-state* resident's ownership or operation of a motor vehicle.

Yet the trial court denied GEICO's motion for summary disposition. It concluded, based on MCL 500.3012—as interpreted by *Farm Bureau Ins Co v Allstate Ins Co*, 233 Mich App 38; 592 NW2d 395 (1998), that Plaintiff had a valid claim that the North Carolina policy GEICO issued to Waller should be deemed a Michigan no-fault insurance policy (**Exhibit 2**,

pp. 31-33). It also held that Plaintiff's estoppel-based claim against GEICO was potentially viable (**Exhibit 2**, pp. 30-31).

On appeal, the Court of Appeals reversed as to the estoppel theory, holding that GEICO is entitled to summary disposition under §3163 (**Exhibit 1**, slip op at 6-8); but it affirmed the trial court's holding that Plaintiff has a jury-submissible claim for unlimited Michigan PIP benefits against GEICO under MCL 500.3012. It held that *Farm Bureau v Allstate* constitutes binding precedent for the proposition that an out-of-state insurance policy will be reformed to one providing coverage under Michigan's no-fault act when the insurer "knows, or has reason to know," that the purchaser of the policy is a Michigan resident (**Exhibit 1**, slip op at 4-6).

The §3012-based policy reformation rule of *Farm Bureau v Allstate* is now the exclusive ground on which this case is proceeding; yet it is utterly unfounded and should be disavowed. Either on plenary review or in lieu of granting leave to appeal, the Court should so conclude, overrule *Farm Bureau v Allstate*, and direct that summary disposition be granted in favor of GEICO.

### **Underlying Facts**

In April of 2015, GEICO issued an auto insurance policy to Zachary Waller, a marine stationed at Camp Lejeune, North Carolina. The policy, identifying a coverage period of May 24, 2015 to November 24, 2015 (thus encompassing the subject accident date), provided coverage for a 2002 GMC Sierra 2500, which Waller had purchased in North Carolina (**Exhibit 5** – GEICO policy declarations; **Exhibit 11**, Waller, p. 37; **Exhibit 13** – deposition of D. Snell, pp. 25-26). The vehicle was registered in North Carolina (**Exhibit 11**, pp. 10-12; **Exhibit 4** – Traffic Crash Report) and was garaged in North Carolina (**Exhibit 5**, GEICO

policy, pp. 1, 3). As such, Waller was mandated by North Carolina law to secure North Carolina insurance on the vehicle.<sup>1</sup> The policy provided bodily injury liability and other coverages in accordance with North Carolina law (*id.*).

Waller had arrived in North Carolina from Michigan in January of 2013, when he began active duty under his enlistment with the marines. His enlistment papers of April 3, 2012, and his State of Legal Residence Certificate, filled out at the commencement of his service (**Exhibit 6; Exhibit 11**, Waller, p. 19), identified his mother's address at 5750 St. Johns Road, Grass Lake, Michigan.

In April of 2015, however, with nearly two years remaining in his enlistment, Waller's then-fiancé, Plaintiff Hahn, traveled to North Carolina to move into the townhouse Waller was purchasing near Camp Lajeune, North Carolina (**Exhibit 10** – deposition of K. Hahn, pp. 27-31; **Exhibit 11**, Waller, pp. 11, 23). On May 8, 2015, the two were married in North Carolina (**Exhibit 7; Exhibit 11**, p. 33), and on May 21, 2015, they both signed the mortgage (“Deed of Trust”) and acquired their warranty deed to the townhouse -- 602 Ebb Tide Lane, Sneads Ferry, North Carolina (**Exhibit 8**). From that time onward, up to and including the date of the

---

<sup>1</sup> NC Gen Stat § 20-309(a) and (b) (requiring owners of motor vehicles to maintain financial responsibility – a liability insurance policy under the referenced North Carolina statutes – continuously throughout the period of North Carolina registration); NC Gen Stat § 20-50(a) and NC Gen Stat § 20-52(a)(1a)b.2, 4 (mandating North Carolina registration of vehicles owned by persons on active duty in the Armed Forces stationed in North Carolina or by other persons who, although possessing a driver's license from a different home state, certifies that the vehicle will be principally garaged in North Carolina); *Hendrickson v Lee*, 119 NC App 444; 459 SE2d 275, 282 (1995): “[I]t is uncontroverted that at the time of his automobile accident, plaintiff was operating a ... vehicle which was principally garaged and registered in North Carolina and which bore a North Carolina license plate. Under NC Gen State § 20-309 (1993), financial responsibility as provided in Article 9A of Chapter 20 of our General Statutes–i.e., the Financial Responsibility Act–must be maintained upon all motor vehicles registered in this State.”

subject accident, Waller and Hahn lived together as husband and wife in their North Carolina townhouse. Although they intended eventually to return to Michigan following Waller's enlistment, they had no plan as to where in Michigan they might decide to live (**Exhibit 11**, Waller, pp. 16-17, 20, 27, 32; **Exhibit 10**, K. Hahn, pp. 32, 52-53, 70-71). Had there been no accident on July 18, 2015, Waller and Hahn would have returned to North Carolina and continued to reside in their townhouse through the end of Waller's enlistment in January 2017 (**Exhibit 11**, pp. 17, 19-20, 27).

In July of 2015, Waller received two weeks leave from Camp Lejeune to travel with his wife to Michigan, where the couple intended to celebrate their recent marriage with family and friends (**Exhibit 11**, Waller, pp. 20, 38). They left North Carolina the evening of July 17, 2015, and drove straight through to Michigan in Waller's 2002 GMC Sierra 2500. At approximately 4:00 a.m. on July 18, 2015, in Monroe County, Michigan, Hahn was riding in the passenger seat when Waller lost control of the vehicle. The resulting single-vehicle accident left Hahn seriously and permanently injured as a quadriplegic (**Exhibit 3** – Amended Complaint, ¶¶ 6-10; **Exhibit 4** - Traffic Crash Report).

Following the accident, Plaintiff claimed entitlement to Michigan personal protection insurance (“PIP”) benefits from GEICO. Pursuant to its auto liability policy issued to Waller, and in recognition of its certification in Michigan under MCL 500.3163, GEICO paid Plaintiff \$500,000.00 in Michigan PIP benefits on the basis that Waller, the policyholder, and Plaintiff Hahn, also an “insured” under the policy as a resident spouse of the named insured, were residents of North Carolina at the time of the accident and thus “out of state residents” for



purposes of the Michigan no-fault act, MCL 500.3163(1).<sup>2</sup> In a letter to Plaintiff's counsel dated February 22, 2016, GEICO disclaimed responsibility for payment of benefits beyond the \$500,000 limit set forth in MCL 500.3163(4):

We have completed our investigation and determined that your client does qualify for the Michigan Deemer Coverage with a \$500,000 limit under our insured Zachary Waller's Policy. I have enclosed a copy of the payment log to show the medical bills received and paid to date. Should you have any questions, please contact me directly.

**(Exhibit 9).** Shortly after receiving this letter Plaintiff's counsel initiated this lawsuit (Complaint, March 29, 2016).

### **Proceedings Below**

Plaintiff Hahn filed her lawsuit against Defendants GEICO and ACIA seeking to establish unlimited coverage for no-fault insurance benefits applicable to her accident injuries. As against ACIA, Plaintiff alleged that she was a resident of the household of ACIA's policyholder, Plaintiff's father, and thus was covered for PIP benefits under his policy **(Exhibit 3 – Amended Complaint, ¶23)**. See MCL 500.3114(1). As against GEICO, Plaintiff alleged that the injuries Hahn sustained in Michigan, arising out of the ownership or operation of a motor vehicle by GEICO's insured [Waller] under its automobile liability policy, were subject to the PIP coverage of Michigan's no-fault act based on GEICO's certification in Michigan **(Exhibit 2, ¶22)**. See MCL 500.3163(1). Plaintiff thus alleged that either GEICO

---

<sup>2</sup> Under the GEICO policy, a named insured's spouse residing with the named insured is elevated to the status of "you" – an additional named insured on the policy **(Exhibit 5 - Personal Automobile Policy form, Definitions, page 3 of 22)**. GEICO's payment log confirmed payment of \$500,000 in benefits for Plaintiff Hahn (Exhibit M of GEICO's Response to ACIA's Motion for Summary Disposition, 12/1/2016).

or ACIA was required to provide continuing payment of no-fault benefits without limitation (**Exhibit 3**, “Wherefore” clause, pp. 5-6).

Following extensive discovery on the issue of where Hahn and Waller are deemed to have resided at the time of the accident, both GEICO and ACIA filed motions for summary disposition. GEICO maintained that it already had paid its entire \$500,000 of coverage due Hahn in accordance with its §3163 certification; and that if Hahn and Waller should indeed be regarded as being at all times domiciled in Michigan and thus *not* out-of-state residents, then GEICO would in fact have *no* liability for payment of PIP benefits, since GEICO’s §3163 certification is applicable only where its insured is a non-resident of Michigan. Either way, GEICO maintained, no liability for further payment of no-fault benefits can be imposed on GEICO under the facts presented (GEICO’s Motion for Summary Disposition, 11/3/2016; GEICO’s Response to ACIA’s Motion for Summary Disposition, 12/1/2016).

ACIA also moved for summary disposition, contending either that it owed no coverage to Hahn on grounds that she was not domiciled in the household of its policyholder, David Hahn (Plaintiff’s father), or if it did owe resident-relative coverage to Hahn, such coverage would be secondary to GEICO’s coverage since, according to ACIA, MCL 500.3012 applies to render the GEICO policy a Michigan no-fault insurance policy (ACIA’s Motion for Summary Disposition, 10/31/2016, and ACIA’s Response to GEICO’s Motion for Summary Disposition, 12/1/2016). Plaintiff Hahn opposed both defendants’ motions, asserting against GEICO that it should be estopped from deviating (i.e., “mending the hold”) from the coverage position it had expressed in its “denial” letter of February 22, 2016 (**Exhibit 9**) (Plaintiff’s Response to Defendants’ Motions for Summary Disposition, 11/30/2016).

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