STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT

KAITLIN HAHN,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

v

GEICO INDEMNITY COMPANY,

Defendant-Appellant.

Supreme Court No. 158141

Court of Appeals No. 336583

Oakland County Circuit Court
No. 16-152229-NI

DONALD M. FULKERSON (P35785)
Attorney of Counsel for Plaintiff-Appellee
PO Box 85395
Westland, MI 48185
(734) 467-5620
donfulkerson@comcast.net

NICHOLAS S. ANDREWS (P42693)
LISS, SEDER & ANDREWS, P.C.
Co-Counsel for Plaintiff-Appellee
39400 Woodward Avenue, Suite 200
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304
(248) 647-9700
nandrews@lissfirm.com

DANIEL S. SAYLOR (P37942)
SARAH NADEAU (P60101)
Garan Lucow Miller, P.C.
Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **GEICO’S CHALLENGE TO THE VALIDITY OF *FARM BUREAU’S* RULING – THAT AN OUT-OF-STATE AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE POLICY ISSUED TO A MICHIGAN RESIDENT BY AN INSURER CERTIFIED UNDER MCL 500.3163 MUST BE REFORMED TO PROVIDE MICHIGAN PIP COVERAGE PURSUANT TO MCL 500.3012, MICHIGAN LAW AND PUBLIC POLICY IF THE INSURER KNEW OR SHOULD HAVE KNOWN THAT THE INSURED WAS A MICHIGAN RESIDENT – IS NEITHER PRESERVED NOR MERITORIOUS.**
- A. **GEICO failed to raise any challenge to the precedential authority or validity of the *Farm Bureau* decision in the trial court or Court of Appeals. Moreover, since the Court of Appeals exercised its discretion to consider only GEICO’s unreserved argument that *Farm Bureau’s* analysis under MCL 500.3012 was “obiter dictum,” which GEICO’s current application abandons, the Supreme Court should deny leave on GEICO’s other unreserved issue that *Farm Bureau* and *Gordon* were wrongly decided.**

At the outset, as the Court of Appeals correctly concluded, GEICO failed to preserve any issue challenging the precedent or validity of *Farm Bureau’s* ruling regarding reformation of policy under MCL 500.3012 and Michigan’s No-Fault Act, MCL 500.3101, *et seq.* As demonstrated above, GEICO did not raise any arguments regarding *Farm Bureau’s* precedential authority or validity in the trial court. GEICO also failed to raise any issues in its Court of Appeals application that *Farm Bureau’s* ruling regarding reformation under MCL 500.3012 was “obiter dictum” or incorrect. For both reasons, the Court of Appeals correctly held that these issues were unreserved. (COA decision, p 6, citing *Polkton Charter Twp v Pellegroni*, 265 Mich App 88, 95; 693 NW2d 170 (2005), *Tingley v Kortz*, 262 Mich App 583, 588; 688 NW2d 291 (2004), and the May 17, 2017 order granting leave); see also MCR 7.205(E)(4) (“Unless otherwise

ordered, the appeal is limited to the issues raised in the application and supporting brief.”).

It is well established that the Supreme Court will not consider an issue the appellant failed to properly raise and preserve in the Court of Appeals or trial court. See *People v Smith*, 420 Mich 1, 11 n 3; 360 NW2d 841 (1984); *Long v Pettinato*, 394 Mich 343, 553; 230 NW2d 550 (1975); *Kushay v Sexton Dairy Co*, 394 Mich 69, 77; 228 NW2d 205 (1975). While the Court of Appeals, in its discretion, considered and rejected GEICO’s unpreserved argument that *Farm Bureau’s* analysis of the MCL 500.3012 reformation issued constituted “obiter dictum,” (COA decision, p 6 – Ex 1),¹³ the Court of Appeals did not address GEICO’s other, unpreserved issue that *Farm Bureau* and *Gordon* were incorrectly decided, (*id*).

Accordingly, GEICO’s current attempt to challenge the validity of *Farm Bureau* and *Gordon* remains unpreserved. GEICO never considered this issue meritorious enough to properly raise it in either the trial court or Court of Appeals. GEICO accordingly has failed to present grounds for Supreme Court review under MCR 7.305(B)(3). GEICO’s application for leave to appeal, which principally rests on this unpreserved issue, must be denied.

¹³ An argument GEICO’s Supreme Court application abandons. (GEICO application, p 18 n 7). Because consideration of reformation was “germane to the controversy” in *Farm Bureau*, the Court of Appeals correctly rejected GEICO’s unpreserved argument that this analysis constituted “obiter dictum.” (COA decision, p 6 – Ex 1).

- B. **Even if the unpreserved argument is considered on the merits, GEICO fails to demonstrate that *Farm Bureau* and *Gordon* were wrongly decided. These decisions correctly held that a policy must be reformed to provide Michigan PIP coverage, if the carrier is a certified Michigan auto insurer under MCL 500.3163 and, at the time it issued the policy, it knew or should have known the insured was a Michigan resident.**

GEICO's contention that *Farm Bureau* and *Gordon* were wrongly decided is not only unpreserved, but meritless. Since Michigan residents must obtain PIP coverage for vehicles to be driven on our highways, and since GEICO admits it is a certified Michigan first-party auto insurer under MCL 500.3163, (GEICO application, p 4), the trial court correctly held, pursuant to *Farm Bureau* and *Gordon*, that the subject policy must be reformed to provide Michigan PIP coverage to Plaintiff, the named insured's resident spouse, if evidence establishes, at the time it issued the policy, GEICO knew or should have known Zach Waller was a Michigan resident.

1. ***Farm Bureau* concluded that, when an insurer certified under MCL 500.3163 has notice that the insured is a Michigan resident, an out-of-state auto insurance policy issued by the insurer must be reformed to provide Michigan PIP coverage under MCL 500.3012.**

In *Farm Bureau, supra*, the Court of Appeals, Judges Markey, Richard Allen Griffin, Jr. and Whitbeck, unanimously concluded that, under certain circumstances, an out-of-state auto insurance policy issued by an insurer certified under MCL 500.3163 may be reformed under MCL 500.3012 and Michigan law to provide mandatory PIP coverage to a Michigan resident. MCL 500.3163(1) states:

An insurer authorized to transact automobile liability insurance and personal and property protection insurance in this state shall file and maintain a written certification that any accidental bodily injury or property damage occurring in this state arising from the ownership, operation, maintenance, or use of a motor vehicle as a motor vehicle by an out-of-

state resident who is insured under its automobile liability policies, is subject to the personal and property insurance system under this act.

MCL 500.3012 provides:

Such a liability insurance policy issued in violation of sections 3004 through 3012 shall, nevertheless, be held valid but be deemed to include the provisions required by such sections, and when any provision in such policy or rider is in conflict with the provisions required to be contained by such sections, the rights, duties and obligations of the insured, the policyholder and the injured person shall be governed by the provisions of such sections: Provided, however, That the insurer shall have all the defenses in any action brought under the provisions of such sections that it originally had against its insured under the terms of the policy providing the policy is not in conflict with the provisions of such sections.

The *Farm Bureau* majority, Judges Markey and Whitbeck, ruled that MCL 500.3012 supports reformation where the insurer “is aware that it is dealing with a Michigan resident and nevertheless issues an out-of-state automobile insurance policy that does not comply with Michigan's no-fault act” *Id*, 233 Mich App at 43 n 2. They asserted:

In our view, it is evident that the basic purpose of § 3012 is to treat an insurance policy that an insurer issues *purporting to be a Michigan policy that complies with Michigan law* as such even if the written terms of the policy are inconsistent with Michigan law. See, e.g., *Adrian School Dist v Michigan Public School Employees Retirement System*, 458 Mich 326, 332; 582 NW2d 767 (1998) (primary goal of statutory construction “is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the Legislature”). Simply put, the Indiana insurance policy issued by Allstate in this case was not issued ‘in violation of’ the no-fault act because Allstate neither purported to issue a policy that complied with Michigan's no-fault act nor knew that it was dealing with a Michigan resident.

Indeed, the Michigan Supreme Court in one of the cases relied on by the dissent was referring to a policy issued by a company that purported the policy provided statutorily required no-fault insurance:

It would be unconscionable to permit an insurance company *offering statutorily required coverage* to collect premiums for it with one hand and allow it to take the coverage away with the other by using a self-devised “other insurance” limitation. Nothing could more clearly defeat the intention of the Legislature.

[*Blakeslee v Farm Bureau Mut Ins Co of Michigan*, 388 Mich 464, 474; 201 NW2d 786 (1972) (emphasis added).]

Further down on the same page of the *Blakeslee* opinion, the Court stated, as quoted by the dissent:

Given this clear purpose and the mandatory language of the statute, such language must be read into those provisions of a policy of insurance that differ or vary from the statutory language. [*Id.*]

Id at 41-42 (original emphasis). After recognizing that an out-of-state policy may be reformed to provide Michigan PIP coverage if the insurer had notice the insured was a Michigan resident, the majority held the insurer in that case, Allstate, was not obligated to provide PIP coverage under Michigan law because there was no evidence it could “reasonably have been expected to have known” or “should have known” the insured was a Michigan resident. *Id* at 43, 41. The majority also rejected the proposition that an insurer doing business in Michigan and other states must “routinely investigate every person who seeks automobile insurance outside Michigan while using a non-Michigan address to determine whether that person is a Michigan resident[,]” which would impose “an onerous burden on insurers.” *Id* at 44.¹⁴

In his dissent, Judge Griffin agreed that, when a “mutual mistake” occurs, pursuant to “the public policy of the state of Michigan, as reflected by our Insurance Code and our case law,” an out-of-state auto liability policy issued to a Michigan resident must be reformed to provide PIP coverage under the No-Fault Act. *Id* at 44-51 (Griffin, J, dissenting). He reached this conclusion because:

¹⁴ As further discussed below, the Farm Bureau majority’s rejection of the proposition that an insurer has an a duty to investigate the prospective insured’s residence status rebuts GEICO’s contention that *Farm Bureau* and *Gordon, supra* violate this Court’s holding in *Harts v Farmers Ins Exchange*, 461 Mich 1; 597 NW2d 47 (1999). (GEICO application, pp 25-26).

- a. the “Legislature’s intent and goal” was to provide “a system of compulsory no-fault insurance for all Michigan motorists,” *Id* at 47-48;
- b. MCL 500.3101 and MCL 257.216 jointly mandate that Michigan residents must purchase PIP coverage under the No-Fault Act. *Id* at 48. Only “nonresidents” are exempt. *Id*.
- c. Under MCL 500.3012, because the plaintiff was a Michigan resident and “her vehicle was required to be registered in Michigan, her insurance must conform to the minimum requirements of the Michigan Insurance Code.” *Id* at 49. “Otherwise, the insurance contract violates public policy and subjects (the plaintiff) to misdemeanor criminal liability.” *Id*, citing MCL 500.3102.
- d. In *Blakeslee, supra*, 388 Mich at 474, “our Supreme Court addressed the now repealed uninsured motorist statutory provision and held that when the language of an automobile insurance contract is at odds with a statutory mandate, the automobile insurance contract must be reformed to comply with our law[.]” *Id*.
- e. “Following the repeal of compulsory uninsured motorist protection, the Supreme Court reiterated that in regard to statutorily mandated coverages, Michigan automobile insurance policies must be construed to satisfy the minimum statutory requirements.” *Id*, citing *Rohlman v Hawkeye-Security Ins Co*, 442 Mich 520, 524-525; 502 NW2d 310 (1993).
- f. “Recently, in both *State Farm Mut Automobile Ins Co v Enterprise Leasing Co*, 452 Mich 25; 549 NW2d 345 (1996), and *Citizens Ins Co v Federated Mut Ins Co*, 448 Mich 225; 531 NW2d 138 (1995), the Supreme Court held that provisions of automobile insurance policies that violate the Insurance Code are void and that such contracts must be reformed to comply with compulsory insurance requirements.” *Id*.

Judge Griffin noted, in particular, that it is “an incongruous result ... that an automobile insurance policy issued to an out-of-state resident must be reformed to comply with Michigan law (under MCL 500.3163) while a policy issued to a Michigan resident need not.” *Id* at 47 (emphasis added).

After agreeing with the majority that an out-of-state policy may be reformed to provide mandatory PIP coverage to a Michigan resident insured, Judge Griffin dissented

because he concluded that “a mutual mistake” in the case necessitated reformation. *Id* at 44. Judge Griffin did not state whether notice to the insurer that the insured was a Michigan resident is a condition precedent to reformation.

Before the case at bar, only three unpublished decisions have applied *Farm Bureau’s* standard for reformation of a policy. Of these, only *Gordon v GEICO Gen Ins Co*, unpublished opinion per curiam of the Court of Appeals, issued March 20, 2012 (Docket No. 301431) (Ex 15) found grounds for potential reformation based on a material fact question whether the insurer had actual or constructive notice the insured was a Michigan resident.

- 2. Of the four cases applying *Farm Bureau’s* ruling, only this case and *Gordon* found potential grounds for reformation based on a genuine issue of material fact the insurer had actual or constructive notice the insured was a Michigan resident.**

Over the past 20 years, aside from this case, only three unpublished Court of Appeals’ decisions have applied *Farm Bureau’s* reformation analysis. Of these, only *Gordon, supra*, held there was a fact question, at the time the policy was issued, that the insurer had actual or constructive notice the insured was a Michigan resident. In *Gordon*, relying on *Farm Bureau*, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court’s order granting summary disposition and dismissal of *GEICO’s* action alleging that another insurer, Farmers Insurance Exchange, was liable for the plaintiff’s PIP benefits. *Id*, slip opinion, pp 1-2. The court held, in pertinent part, that:

The *Farm Bureau* Court was silent regarding a scenario in which an insurer *should have known* it was dealing with a Michigan resident and issues an out-of-state insurance policy. However, the trial court’s reasoning is sound: if an insurer knows or has reason to know that it is dealing with a Michigan resident and issues insurance coverage which purports to provide coverage in the insured’s state, then MCL

500.3012 applies. Further, we see no reason not to extend *Farm Bureau* in this manner because, if the insurer knows or has reason to know that the insured is a Michigan resident, the risks discussed in *Farm Bureau* are not implicated. When the insurer knows or has reason to know it is providing coverage to a Michigan resident, there is no risk that the Michigan resident is seeking an out-of-state policy for lower premiums. When the applicant's residency is known, there is no misrepresentation, and the insurer must provide the coverage it purports to provide. Therefore, if Geico had reason to know that Ms. Gordon was a Michigan resident and issued her a policy for no-fault insurance coverage in Michigan, we hold that MCL 500.3012 applies.

The record is clear that Geico did know, or clearly should have known, it was dealing with a Michigan resident.¹⁵ Even though Ms. Gordon admitted that she told Geico that she lived in Mississippi, provided a Mississippi address, and told Geico that she intended to change her car registration to Mississippi, she provided a Michigan driver's license and Michigan car registration. She also told Geico she would be traveling back and forth to Michigan. Further, Ms. Gordon made claims with Geico, all of which were Michigan losses. At a minimum, the evidence shows that Geico knew, or should have known, that it was dealing with a Michigan resident who would at least be traveling frequently to Michigan. Thus, Ms. Gordon would have needed no-fault protection based on her conversation with the Geico representative. Therefore, Geico would have issued an insurance policy to comply with her needs.

Id., p 4 (original emphasis).¹⁶

The two other previous cases applying *Farm Bureau – Auto-Owners v Integon Nat Ins Co*, *supra* (Ex 16) and *Williams v Allstate Ins Co*, unpublished opinion per

¹⁵ GEICO spuriously argues that *Gordon* departed from *Farm Bureau* by applying a “knew or should have known” standard. (GEICO application, pp 24-25). As quoted above, and as the Court of Appeals recognized in *Auto-Owners Ins Co v Integon Nat Ins Co*, unpublished opinion per curiam of the Court of Appeals, issued September 17, 2015 (Docket No. 321396) (Ex 16), the *Farm Bureau* majority rejected reformation in that case because there was no evidence it could “reasonably have been expected to have known” or “should have known” the insured was a Michigan resident. *Id.*, slip op, p 5, quoting *Farm Bureau*, 233 Mich App at 43, 41.

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